Corporations and Other Business Organizations

Corporations and Other Business Organizations

Cases, Materials, Problems

NINTH EDITION

Lawrence A. Cunningham

HENRY St. GEORGE TUCKER III RESEARCH PROFESSOR OF LAW THE GEORGE WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY LAW SCHOOL



CAROLINA ACADEMIC PRESS

Durham, North Carolina

Copyright © 2016 Lawrence A. Cunningham All Rights Reserved

ISBN 978-1-5310-0019-6 LCCN 2016950657

Carolina Academic Press, LLC 700 Kent Street Durham, North Carolina 27701 Telephone (919) 489-7486 Fax (919) 493-5668 www.cap-press.com

Printed in the United States of America

To Stephanie Cuba and Rebecca and Sarah Cunningham, with love and thanks, always and forever.

Summary of Contents

Preface	xxiii
Introduction · Approaching Corporate Law	XXV
Chapter 1 · Business Organizations and Agency Principles	3
Chapter 2 · Traditional Business Forms and Their Progeny	51
Chapter 3 · Incorporation	181
Chapter 4 · Capitalization	227
Chapter 5 · Organizing the Corporation	279
Chapter 6 · Corporate Authority	301
Chapter 7 · Distributing Corporate Control	353
Chapter 8 · Piercing the Corporate Veil	411
Chapter 9 · Dividends and Distributions	445
Chapter 10 · Duty of Care	469
Chapter 11 · Duty of Loyalty	533
Chapter 12 · Duties of Controlling Shareholders	607
Chapter 13 · Changes in Control	649
Chapter 14 · Derivative Litigation and Dispute Resolution	739
Chapter 15 · Indemnification and Insurance	785
Chapter 16 · Impact of Securities Laws on Corporations	809
Chapter 17 · Proxy Regulation	819
Chapter 18 · Tender Offers	851
Chapter 19 · Insider Trading and Other Securities Fraud	875
Chapter 20 · Short-Swing Trading: Section 16 of the Securities	
Exchange Act of 1934	929
Appendix · Financial Statements	955
Table of Cases	975
Index	987

Contents

Preface	xxiii
Introduction · Approaching Corporate Law	XXV
Section I Putting Business Organizations in Context	XXV
A. Business Organizations Generally	XXV
B. The Business Landscape	xxvi
1. The Large Enterprise	xxvi
2. The Small and Medium Sized Business	xxvii
3. The Changing Demographics of the Work Force	xxvii
Section II Other Perspectives on Business	xxviii
Section III Distinguishing Features of Business Law Practice	xxix
A. Prospective Viewpoint	XXX
B. Skill as a Drafter	XXX
C. Special Issues in Counseling Clients	XXX
D. Involvement in Clients' Affairs	xxxii
E. Main Client Contact	xxxii
F. Conservatism	xxxii
G. Collegial Approach	xxxii
H. Involvement of Securities Law	xxxiii
I. Special Ethical Problem	xxxiii
J. Public Service	xxxiv
Chapter 1 · Business Organizations and Agency Principles	3
Situation (This situation applies to Chapters 1 and 2)	3
Section I Introduction to Forms of Business Organizations	5
Section II Sole Proprietorships	9
Section III Agency Law	10
A. Forming an Agency Relationship	10
A. Gay Jenson Farms Co. v. Cargill, Inc.	11
Notes and Questions	16
B. The Principal's Liability for Authorized Acts of the Agent	18
1. Actual Authority	18
2. Determining the Scope of Actual Authority	18
Koval & Koval v. Simon Telelect, Inc.	19
3. Apparent Authority	20
Fennell v. TLB Kent Co.	20

x CONTENTS

Apparent Authority and Inherent Agency	23
C. Principal's Liability for Agent's Unauthorized Acts	24
1. Ratification	25
Daynard v. Ness, Motley	25
2. Estoppel	29
D. Principal's Liability for Agent's Torts	29
Papa John's International, Inc. v. McCoy	30
Notes and Questions	34
E. Agent's Liability — Disclosed, Unidentified, and Undisclosed Principals	35
African Bio-Botanica v. Leiner	36
F. Fiduciary Duties of Agents and Principals	39
1. Fiduciary Duties of Agents	39
a. The Fiduciary Duty of Loyalty	39
Huong Que, Inc. v. Luu	40
Tarnowski v. RESOP	46
b. Other Fiduciary Duties of Agents	50
2. Fiduciary Duties of Principals	50
Chapter 2 · Traditional Business Forms and Their Progeny	51
Situation (See Situation for Chapter 1)	51
Section I Partnerships	51
A. Introduction	51
B. Partnership Formation	53
1. General Partnerships	53
Holmes v. Lerner	53
Notes and Questions	61
2. Limited Liability Partnerships	65
C. Financing	66
D. Management	67
E. Fiduciary Duties	68
Meinhard v. Salmon	69
F. Partners' Liability for Partnership Obligations	75
1. General Partnerships	75
Kansallis Finance Ltd v. Fern	76
2. Limited Liability Partnerships	81
Apcar Investment Partners VI, Ltd. v. Gaus	81
Ederer v. Gursky	85
G. Partnership Property	89
H. Partners' Return on Investment	90
1. Allocation of Profits and Losses	90
2. Transfer of Partnership Interest	94
Casey v. Chapman	95
I. Dissociation and Dissolution	98
Girard Bank v. Haley	101

CONTENTS xi

Notes and Questions	104
McCormick v. Brevig	105
Horne v. Aune	110
Section II Corporations	115
A. Advantages of the Corporate Form	116
1. Flexible Capital Structure	116
2. Centralized Management Structure	117
3. Perpetual Life	118
4. Limited Liability for Shareholders	118
5. Well-Established Form	119
B. Disadvantages of the Corporate Form	119
1. Expense and Trouble of Formation and Maintenance	119
2. Required Initial and Continuing Formality	120
3. Tax Treatment	120
Section III Synthesis — Other Forms of Business Organizations	122
A. Statutory Close and Professional Corporations	122
B. Limited Partnerships	123
C. Limited Liability Companies	128
1. The Operating Agreement	131
Elf Atochem North America, Inc. v. Jaffari and Malek LLC	131
2. LLC Management	138
In re DeLuca	138
McConnell v. Hunt Sports Enterprises	147
VGS, Inc. v. Castiel	153
Notes and Questions	157
Anderson v. Wilder	158
3. Dissociation and Dissolution	161
Lieberman v. Wyoming.com LLC	161
The Dunbar Group, LLC v. Tignor	171
D. Digital Organizations	177
E. Social Enterprises	178
1. Introduction	178
2. The Low Profit Limited Liability Company (L3C)	179
3. Benefit Corporations	180
Chapter 3 · Incorporation	181
Situation	181
Section I The Corporation	182
A. What a Corporation Is	182
B. Development of American Business Corporation Law	184
1. Nineteenth Century	184
a. From Special Acts to General Corporation Statutes	185
b. From Restrictive to Enabling Statutes	185
c. From Unlimited to Limited Liability	186

xii CONTENTS

2. Twentieth Century

a. Delaware and Congruence	187
b. State and Federal Oversight	187
c. Alternatives to the Corporate Form	188
C. Types of American Corporations	188
1. Public Corporations	188
2. Government Corporations	188
3. Nonprofit Corporations	189
4. Business Corporations	189
Section II Promoters' Contracts	191
A. Liabilities of Corporations on Promoters' Contracts	191
McArthur v. Times Printing Co.	192
B. Rights and Liabilities of Promoters on Promoters' Contracts	194
Section III Where and How to Incorporate	195
A. State Chartering Business	195
Note on the "Race" Debtate	196
B. Preincorporation Agreements	199
C. How to Incorporate	199
D. The Purposes and Powers Clauses	200
Section IV Issues Related to Successful Incorporation	201
A. The Internal Affairs Doctrine	201
VantagePoint Venture Partners 1996 v. Examen, Inc.	201
Notes and Questions	205
Boilermakers Local 154 Ret. Fund v. Chevron Corp.	206
Notes	212
Roberts v. TriQuint Semiconductor, Inc.	213
ATP Tour, Inc. v. Deutscher Tennis Bund	217
Notes	220
B. Qualifying to Do Business in Another State	221
C. Domestication	221
Section V Defective Incorporation	222
A. De Facto Corporation and Corporation by Estoppel	222
B. Statutory Developments	224
Chapter 4 · Capitalization	227
Situation	227
Section I Basics	227
A. Equity	228
1. Types of Equity Securities	228
2. Issuance	229
a. Par Value	229
b. Mechanics	231
Toms v. Cooperative Management Corp.	235
Note	238

187

CONTENTS	X11

B. Debt	239
1. Types of Debt	239
2. Leverage	240
C. Introduction to Other Forms of Financing	242
Section II Duly Authorized, Validly Issued, Fully Paid,	
and Nonassessable Stock	247
Hanewald v. Bryan's, Inc.	251
Section III Subordination	255
Obre v. Alban Tractor Co.	256
Fett Roofing and Sheet Metal Co. v. Moore	258
Section IV Preemptive Rights	262
Katzowitz v. Sidler	263
Section V Transfer Restrictions and Buyout Agreements	268
A. Transfer Restrictions	268
B. Buyout Agreements	269
The Old Man and the Tree	270
Chapter 5 · Organizing the Corporation	279
Situation	279
Section I Procedures	279
Section II Other Organizational Matters	282
Section III Bylaws	285
A. Bylaws in the Corporate Hierarchy	285
B. Bylaw Scope and Conflict	286
Roach v. Bynum	287
Notes and Questions	291
Datapoint Corp. v. Plaza Securities Co.	292
Notes and Questions	295
Paulek v. Isgar	296
Notes and Questions	297
C. Bylaws as a Contract	297
Jones v. Wallace	298
Chapter 6 · Corporate Authority	301
Situation	301
Section I Functions and Authority of Shareholders	302
A. Scope of Shareholders' Powers	303
Gashwiler v. Willis	304
B. Exercising Shareholders' Voting Rights	307
1. The Power to Vote	307
2. Eligibility to Vote	307
3. Shareholders' Meetings	308
4. Voting Rules	309
5. Methods of Casting Shareholder Votes	310

xiv CONTENTS

C. Electing Directors	311
1. Voting Rules in Director Elections	311
2. Shareholder Ballot Access	313
D. Shareholders' Information Rights	315
1. Access to Corporate Financial Statements	315
2. Inspection of Corporate Books and Records	315
Seinfeld v. Verizon Communications, Inc.	315
Notes and Questions	320
Section II Functions and Authority of Directors	322
A. Source of Directors' Authority and Powers	322
Manson v. Curtis	323
B. Scope of Directors' Authority and Powers	324
C. How Boards Function	329
Section III Functions and Authority of Officers	333
A. President	335
Molasky Enterprises, Inc. v. Carps, Inc.	335
Notes	338
B. Chairman of the Board	340
C. Vice President	340
Anderson v. Campbell	341
Note	342
D. Secretary	343
In re Drive In Development Corp.	343
First Securities Company v. Dahl	344
Questions	346
E. Treasurer	346
General Overseas Films, Ltd. v. Robin International, Inc.	347
Notes and Questions	352
Chapter 7 · Distributing Corporate Control	353
Situation	353
Section I Cumulative Voting, Staggered Boards, and Class Voting	354
A. Cumulative Voting	354
B. Staggered Boards	356
C. Class and Weighted Voting	357
Section II Charter Provisions	359
Section III Removal Of Directors	360
Auer v. Dressel	360
Campbell v. Loew's, Inc.	363
Section IV Deadlocks, Oppression, and Dissolution	368
A. Deadlocks	368
Hall v. Hall	369
B. Oppression and Dissension	371
Donahue v. Rodd Electrotype Co.	371

CONTENTS xv

Notes and Questions	380
In re Kemp & Beatley, Inc.	381
Notes and Questions	385
Nixon v. Blackwell	387
C. Statutory and Contractual Provisions	394
1. Judicial Dissolution of the Corporation	394
2. Buyout of Shareholder Petitioning for Dissolution	394
3. Appointment of a Custodian or Provisional Director	396
Section V Contractual Arrangements	396
A. Voting Trusts and Shareholder Voting Agreements	396
Lehrman v. Cohen	397
Ramos v. Estrada	402
B. Shareholders' Agreements Allocating Control	406
C. Employment Contracts	408
Chapter 8 · Piercing the Corporate Veil	411
Situation	411
Section I Introduction	411
Section II Tort-Based Claims and Other Considerations	412
Baatz v. Arrow Bar, Inc.	412
Walkovszky v. Carlton	415
Notes	420
A. Factors	421
B. Empirical Data	422
C. Tort Claimant	424
Section III Contract-Based Claims and Other Considerations	424
Sea-Land Services, Inc. v. Pepper Source	425
Notes and Questions	429
A. Undercapitalization	430
B. Corporate Formalities	431
C. Contract Claimant	432
D. Intra-Enterprise Liability	433
E. Equity and Fraud	433
F. Choice of Law	435
Section IV Statutory Claims	435
United States v. Bestfoods	435
A. CERCLA	442
B. Other Statutory Claims	443
Chapter 9 · Dividends and Distributions	445
Situation	445
Section I Mechanics of Dividends and Distributions	445
A. Limitations on Distributions	447
Bayless Manning & James J. Hanks, Legal Capital	453

xvi CONTENTS

B. Repurchase of Shares	455
C. Stock Dividends and Stock Splits	457
D. Calculations, Accounting, and Judgment	459
Klang v. Smith's Food & Drug Centers	459
E. Judicial Review of Dividend Policy	464
Kamin v. American Express Company	464
Notes	468
Chapter 10 · Duty of Care	469
Situation	469
Section I Introduction	470
Section II General Standard of Care and Obligation to Monitor	470
Francis v. United Jersey Bank	470
Notes and Questions	478
A. General Standard	479
B. ALI and MBCA Approaches	479
C. Oversight Responsibilities	480
Section III Duty to Monitor	481
In re Caremark International Inc. Deriv. Litig.	481
Notes and Questions	488
Section IV Business Judgment Rule	491
A. The Classic Rule	491
Joy v. North	491
Notes and Questions	492
B. Applicability and Exceptions	493
C. Perspectives on the Business Judgment Rule	495
D. Officers and the Business Judgment Rule	496
Section V Informed Decision-Making	497
Smith v. Van Gorkom	497
Notes and Questions	509
Section VI Corporate Objective and Social Responsibility	510
A. Judicial Guidance	511
Shlensky v. Wrigley	511
Notes and Questions	513
B. Other Constituencies Statutes	514
C. ALI Principles	515
D. Corporate Code	517
E. Ethics Codes	518
Section VII Corporate Governance Reforms	518
Section VIII Legislative Responses to Liability	518
A. Types of Statutes	518
B. Scope of Statutes	520
Arnold v. Society for Savings Bancorp	520
Malpiede v. Towson	522

CONTENTS	XV11

In re Cornerstone Therapeutics Inc.	525
WLR Foods, Inc. v. Tyson Foods, Inc.	530
,	
Chapter 11 · Duty of Loyalty	533
Situation	533
Section I Introduction	533
Section II Common Law Test	534
Lewis v. S. L. & E., Inc.	534
Notes and Questions	540
Section III Safe Harbor Statutes	542
Marciano v. Nakash	543
Notes and Questions	548
Benihana of Tokyo, Inc. v. Benihana, Inc.	548
Notes	554
Section IV Good Faith	554
In re The Walt Disney Company	554
Notes	567
Stone v. Ritter	568
Notes and Questions	573
Section V Compensation Agreements	573
In re Tyson Foods, Inc. [I]	575
In re Tyson Foods, Inc. [II]	580
Ryan v. Gifford	584
Note on Executive Compensation	587
Section VI Corporate Opportunity Doctrine	588
Broz v. Cellular Information Systems, Inc.	589
Notes and Questions	596
Northeast Harbor Golf Club, Inc. v. Harris	598
Notes and Questions	605
Chapter 12 · Duties of Controlling Shareholders	607
Situation	607
Section I Operation of Corporations	608
Sinclair Oil Corp. v. Levien	608
Notes and Questions	612
Section II Sale of Control	614
Perlman v. Feldmann	614
Notes and Questions	620
Section III Cash Out Mergers	622
Weinberger v. UOP, Inc.	622
Kahn v. M&F Worldwide	631
Notes and Questions	639
Section IV Short Form Mergers and Appraisal Remedy	640

xviii CONTENTS

Glassman v. Unocal Exploration Corp.	641
Notes	647
Chapter 13 · Changes in Control	649
Situation	649
Section I Introduction	649
Section II Negotiated Changes In Control	650
A. Corporate Combinations	650
B. De Facto Mergers	652
Farris v. Glen Alden Corp.	653
Notes and Questions	657
Hariton v. Arco Electronics, Inc.	657
Notes and Questions	659
Knapp v. North American Rockwell Corp.	659
C. Additional Exceptions and Alternatives	662
Section III Protecting Control	664
A. Traditional Approach and Tactics	664
Cheff v. Mathes	664
Notes and Questions	670
Note on Takeover Tactics	670
B. Enhanced Scrutiny	673
Unocal Corp. v. Mesa Petroleum Co.	673
Revlon, Inc. v. MacAndrews & Forbes Holdings, Inc.	680
C. Refinements of Enhanced Scrutiny	688
Paramount Communications, Inc. v. Time Inc.	688
Paramount Communications, Inc. v. QVC Network, Inc.	697
Lyondell Chemical Co. v. Ryan	713
Notes and Questions	719
D. Deal Protection	721
Ace Limited v. Capital Re Corp.	721
Omnicare, Inc. v. NCS Healthcare, Inc.	726
Notes and Questions	736
Chapter 14 · Derivative Litigation and Dispute Resolution	739
Situation	739
Section I Derivative Actions	739
Section II Distinguishing Derivative Suits	742
Tooley v. Donaldson, Lufkin, & Jenrette, Inc.	742
Notes and Questions	746
Section III The Demand Requirement	747
Aronson v. Lewis	747
Notes and Questions	754
Section IV Special Litigation Committees	756
Auerbach v. Bennett	756

CONTENTS xix

Notes and Questions	762
Zapata Corp. v. Maldonado	763
Notes and Questions	767
Schoon v. Smith	771
Notes and Questions	774
Section V Alternative Dispute Resolution	774
State of Delaware Delaware Rapid Arbitration Act (2015)	775
ELF Atochem North America, Inc. v. Jaffari	776
Mission Residential, LLC v. Triple Net Properties, LLC	778
Parfi Holding AB v. Mirror Image Internet, Inc.	780
Chapter 15 · Indemnification and Insurance	785
Situation	785
Section I Introduction	785
Section II Indemnification	786
A. Mandatory Indemnification	787
Waltuch v. Conticommodity Services	787
Notes and Questions	791
B. Permissive Indemnification	792
Heffernan v. Pacific Dunlop GNB Corp.	792
Notes and Questions	797
C. Non-Exclusivity Statutes	799
Waltuch v. Conticommodity Services	799
Notes and Questions	805
Section III Insurance	806
Chapter 16 · Impact of Securities Laws on Corporations	809
Situation	809
Section I Securities Act of 1933	810
Section II Securities Exchange Act of 1934	811
Section III Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002	814
Section IV Special Position of Securities Lawyers	816
Chapter 17 · Proxy Regulation	819
Situation	819
Section I General	820
Mills v. Electric Auto-Lite Co.	820
TSC Industries, Inc. v. Northway, Inc.	825
Virginia Bankshares, Inc. v. Sandberg	828
Section II Shareholders' Proposals	835
American Federation of State, County & Municipal Employees v.	
American International Group, Inc.	835
Roosevelt v. E.I. Du Pont De Nemours & Co.	840

XX CONTENTS

Section III Proxy Contests	844
Kennecott Copper Corp. v. Curtiss-Wright Corp.	845
Chapter 18 · Tender Offers	851
Situation	851
Section I What Is a Tender Offer?	852
Hanson Trust PLC v. SCM Corp.	852
Section II Williams Act Issues	856
Piper v. Chris-Craft Industries, Inc.	857
Schreiber v. Burlington Northern, Inc.	864
Section III State Regulation	868
CTS Corp. v. Dynamics Corp. of America	869
Chapter 19 · Insider Trading and Other Securities Fraud	875
Situation	875
Section I State Insider Trading Law	875
Freeman v. Decio	876
Section II General Federal Securities Fraud Law	880
A. Materiality; Reliance	881
Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc.	881
B. "In Connection With" Requirement	892
Superintendent of Insurance of New York v. Bankers Life & Casualty Co.	892
C. Standing	895
Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores	895
D. Scienter	901
Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder	901
E. Loss; Loss Causation	908
Dura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. v. Broudo	908
Section III Insider Trading under Federal Law	912
Chiarella v. United States	912
Dirks v. SEC	917
United States v. O'Hagan	919
Section IV Scope of Liability	920
Central Bank of Denver v. First Interstate Bank	920
Stoneridge Investment Partners v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc.	921
Chapter 20 · Short-Swing Trading: Section 16 of the Securities	
Exchange Act of 1934	929
Situation	929
Section I Profit Realized	930
Smolowe v. Delendo Corp.	930
Section II Who Is a Director?	935
Blau v. Lehman	935
Section III What Is a Sale?	940

CONTENTS	xxi

Kern County Land Co. v. Occidental Petroleum Corp.	940
Section IV Timing Issues	945
Reliance Electric Co. v. Emerson Electric Co.	945
Foremost-McKesson, Inc. v. Provident Securities Co.	947
Section V Standing	950
Gollust v. Mendell	950
Appendix · Financial Statements	955
Introduction to Accounting	955
A. Balance Sheet	956
1. Assets	957
i. Current Assets	958
ii. Fixed Assets	960
2. Liabilities	961
3. Equity	961
B. Income Statement	962
C. Accumulated Retained Earnings Statement	964
D. Statement of Cash Flows	965
E. Financial Statement Analysis	965
F. Exercise	972
G. Auditing	972
Table of Cases	975
Index	987

Preface

Most chapters of this book begin with a situation involving one or more hypothetical clients, with later situations building on earlier ones. Classroom work can involve the situations as much or as little as the teacher wishes, or it can exclude the situations entirely. For example, the situations can simply be used, as part of assigned readings, to place the cases and other materials in an understandable context. The inclusion of these situations, then, is not meant to dictate the agenda for the class.

The book is designed to be used in a three- or four-semester-hour corporation law or business associations course. Chapters 1 and 2 deal with unincorporated business organizations. The remaining chapters focus on corporations. Some of the securities related materials have been included simply to give students a first acquaintance with a few of the more common securities law questions likely to arise in a corporate practice.

Teachers who wish to deal only selectively with these questions, or to save them for another course, will find no difficulty in doing so. An introduction to the reading of financial statements is included in an appendix. The materials on reading financial statements were designed to be understandable to students with little or no help.

Citations of authority and references of various sorts have been omitted, as have footnotes, except where inclusion or partial inclusion has served a specific purpose. These deletions generally have not been indicated. Other deletions and revisions usually have been, except for the correction of typographical errors and the deletion of paragraphs and longer portions of text appearing before or after excerpts from noncase materials, and except for a few miscellaneous deletions and revisions of a minor nature. Where footnotes have been retained, the original footnote numbers have been indicated with brackets.

I want to honor my late co-editors who created the earliest editions of this book decades ago and maintained them over many years: Larry D. Soderquist and A.A. Sommer, Jr., two towering figures in corporate legal history. I am also grateful to my other co-editors on more recent editions, including especially Linda Smiddy, who added so much to the book but has now retired. Many others helped in the preparation of the book, including Benjamin Field, George Washington University Law School class of 2017, and two of its adopters, Professors Anna Han and Jennifer Taub, who offered insightful comments on previous versions. Thanks to my thousands of students who have read this book over the years and shared their feedback to make it better.

Lawrence A. Cunningham

Introduction

Approaching Corporate Law

This book is about the law of business organizations, the legal rules defining the rights, responsibilities, and obligations of the individuals who own, manage, and invest in businesses. The text is also about corporate lawyers. At their best, corporate lawyers are skilled practitioners with a broad understanding of business and business law and the social and ethical implications of the tasks at hand. Without this broad understanding, lawyers risk becoming little more than technicians whose limited view of their professional role diminishes the quality of their service and may even cause them to make mistakes on seemingly simple tasks. This book will help students begin to develop some of the broader perspectives that are an important component of the practice of corporate law.

Section I Putting Business Organizations in Context

A. Business Organizations Generally

The study of the law of business organizations is about the men and women who own, invest in, and manage businesses of all sizes. It is about the corner grocer, the owner of the local plumbing supply company, the directors, officers and shareholders of a multinational enterprise, the partner in a law firm, the founder of an environmental consulting firm, the movie mogul, and the art dealer. It is about individuals whose abilities to manage a company's employees and assets and make difficult financial decisions determine the fate of a business venture.

People become business owners for many reasons. They may need to make a living or want to earn a return on an investment. Other motivating factors are the desire to provide particular services or products, retain control over their lives, or to spend their working lifetimes in activities of particular interest to them.

A business organization consists of people who work together for a common business purpose and who share the risks and rewards of their efforts. People go into business with others to obtain talent, skills, or money that they cannot provide themselves. They may also want the companionship that comes with working with others.

Members of a business organization may be owners, employees, or investors or hold positions that combine these roles. They may actively manage the business or become passive investors who leave the management of the company to others. Their numbers may range from a very few persons to participants counted in the millions. Whatever the nature of their relationships or the extent of their numbers, the results of their combined efforts comprise the work of the enterprise.

In many respects, other organizations, such as labor unions, charities, and private colleges and universities, have much in common with business organizations. They often have similar governance structures. They hire employees, are operated by professional managers, own property, open bank accounts, incur debt and make money (have revenues that exceed their expenses). The distinguishing features of business organizations are that they are formed for a business purpose, are intended to be profitable and are financed by investors who expect to make money by sharing in the company's profits. In contrast, although many non-profit organizations engage in commercial activities (such as operating a museum store, owning rental property and the like), revenues that are not needed to pay expenses are reinvested in the enterprise rather than paid out to investors.

B. The Business Landscape

Before we comment on specific types of business organizations, we will make a few observations about the general business landscape. For the purposes of this discussion, companies will be grouped by size according to revenues earned, number of employees, or value of assets owned. We will ignore, for the time being, categories based on particular types of legal entities.

1. The Large Enterprise

When one imagines a business organization, often the type that first comes to mind is a large, multinational enterprise. The economic power of companies such as these sometimes borders on the incomprehensible. The largest have revenues in the hundreds of billions of dollars, an amount exceeding the total revenues of some small countries. Some companies employ more people than the total population of several small New England states.

Individually and collectively, these companies have significant economic and social power. They also wield significant influence in our lives. In the United States, large companies typically provide their employees with a range of health care and pension benefits that are governmental responsibilities in other countries. The pervasive influence of these vast enterprises was anticipated by Berle and Means in their classic work on the modern corporation first published in 1932. They posited that the concentration of economic power in the largest corporations would enable these organizations to compete as equals with or even supersede the power of the nation state. In their view, the corporation could become the pre-eminent form of "social organization [with] the law of corporations ... considered as a potential constitutional law for the new economic state..."

^{1.} Adolf A. Berle & Gardiner C. Means, The Modern Corporation and Private Property 313 (Harcourt Brace & World 1968 rev. ed).

In the 1950s, approximately 90% of investors in public companies were individuals. Today, institutional investors predominate. CalPERS, the California Public Employees' Retirement System, and other institutional investors have actively pressed for improved corporate governance and greater management responsiveness to shareholder demands.

Socially responsible investing has also grown significantly. Stocks are selected for "socially responsible" portfolios based on a number of factors including corporate environmental and social responsibility and responsiveness to shareholder resolutions attempting to influence corporate behavior. Over recent decades, the number of such shareholder resolutions has increased dramatically.

2. The Small and Medium Sized Business

Mega-companies are only part of the story of U.S. business. Based on numbers alone, most U.S. companies are small, whether measured by revenues, assets, or employees. For example, more than 80% of all corporations have business revenues under a million dollars a year. Collectively, however, small and medium sized companies play an important role in the U.S. economy. In some industries, these companies, rather than large multinationals, collectively produce the greatest percentage of revenues. In the construction, agriculture, forestry and fishing industries, the smallest companies, as measured by value of assets, collectively produced approximately 70% of total industry revenues. This same category of companies also produced 58% of service industry revenues.

Small companies also employ most U.S. workers. For example, recent data suggest that, of the total number of persons employed in the private sector, almost one-fourth work for businesses with fewer than 20 employees, over half work for businesses with fewer than 100 employees and four-fifths for companies with fewer than 500 employees. Only 13% worked for companies with 1,000 or more employees. These trends are likely to continue, with the smaller companies employing most of the work force. The economic power of small and mid-sized companies is evident in other ways, as well. They reportedly produce nearly half of all U.S. exports.

3. The Changing Demographics of the Work Force

During the last several decades, the demographics of the work force have changed in two important ways. One is the shift in the structure of the employment market. The other is the change in the roles played by women and minorities.

The traditional predominance of manufacturing companies has yielded to service oriented businesses. The services industry now employs more than three-fourths of the U.S. workforce, far outstripping manufacturing. Minorities comprise approximately one third of the labor force and women comprise almost half.

Women now hold almost 30% of senior level and management positions in Fortune 500 companies and account for roughly 17% of members of corporate boards, but their numbers in these areas have been increasing only incrementally. They have had

greater success in other areas. Women-owned businesses generate approximately \$2 trillion in sales and tend to be one of the leading areas of growth in local economies. Further, the number of new women-owned businesses has grown at double the national rate, with businesses owned by minority women increasing by as much as five times the national average. Minorities hold slightly less than 17% of executive or senior level positions and about 15% of corporate board positions. Minority owned businesses produce approximately \$660 billion in gross receipts. Many are likely to be financed with short term debt and are thus more vulnerable in times of recession than are other businesses generally.

Section II Other Perspectives on Business

Members of many different disciplines study business organizations: accountants, lawyers, economists, and moral philosophers, to name a few. Understanding the law of business organizations is aided by some familiarity with the perspectives of accountants and economists. Legal rules governing businesses may be based on principles originating in these disciplines. For example, correct application of the rules governing payment of corporate dividends requires an understanding of the underlying accounting principles.

Accountants perform several functions for businesses. They design and implement control systems that help companies avoid waste and detect wrongdoing. Accountants are also a company's financial historians. They develop systems to record business transactions as they occur and summarize the results in reports known as financial statements. Independent accountants are used to audit a company's books and records to verify that the company's financial representations are correct.

In contrast to accountants, business organization lawyers are mainly concerned with the legal status of a business entity and the legal rules that govern it. These rules apply to the company's formation, structure, ability to raise capital and distribute earnings, and the relationships among the company, its owners, its managerial employees and its creditors. (Issues concerning non-managerial employees are primarily covered in other areas of the law.)

Economists focus on the economic functions of the business enterprise or firm. Often taking a broader view of the business organization than either lawyers or accountants, economists consider the economic interrelationships of owners, creditors, and employees within a firm, and the position of the firm within markets. Some economists and lawyers view a business organization as an association of contractual relationships, whereas other lawyers have traditionally focused on the company's legal status as an entity created by the state.

The view that a corporation is an entity created by the state is based on the idea that corporate formation requires state approval. Corporate existence begins when the articles of incorporation are filed with the Secretary of State. Under this view, the state has the authority to regulate corporate activity directly. In contrast, proponents of the contractual theory of the corporation view:

the corporation as founded in private contract, where the role of the state is limited to enforcing contracts. In this regard, a state charter merely recognizes the existence of a "nexus of contracts" called a corporation. Each contract in the "nexus of contracts" warrants the same legal and constitutional protections as other legally enforceable contracts. Moreover, freedom of contract requires that parties to the "nexus of contracts" must be able to structure their relations as they desire.²

Other commentators are concerned with the questions of whose interests the corporation must serve. One view holds that shareholders own the corporation and that the goal of corporate governance is to advance the interests of the shareholders. Proponents of this view advocate for corporate governance reforms that increase management responsiveness to shareholder interests. A contrasting view is that managers' decisions are already influenced too much by the interests of shareholders, who probably are focused on short term gains and may not understand what would be best for them in the long-term. Proponents of this view argue for corporate reform that either shields management from the pressure of having to achieve short term gains or encourages shareholders to invest for the long-term. Yet a third view is that shareholders in fact do understand their own short-term and long-term interests, but corporate policies benefitting shareholders may not also advance broader social interests. In this case, reformers pursue policies producing the greatest social benefit.

Finally, some ethicists and moral philosophers view the business organization as a moral agent, accountable to groups extending beyond the enterprise constituents. Proponents of this view reject the idea that a company is only the property of its owners. They focus, instead, on the company as a social institution:

[C]orporate decision makers should recognize that their firms are responsible to a broader constituency than shareholders alone; a constituency including employees, customers, local communities, and the public at large. This recognition reinforces social expectations which encourage corporate decision makers to act more as public trustees, and not merely as agents for the shareholders, in the performance of their corporate roles.³

Section III Distinguishing Features of Business Law Practice

What does it take to be a business lawyer? The following comments provide a brief introduction to some of the skills that are most important for an effective business

^{2.} Henry N. Butler, *The Contractual Theory of the Corporation*, 11 Geo. Mason U. L. Rev. 99, 100 (1989).

^{3.} Jeffrey Nesteruk & David T. Risser, Conceptions of the Corporation and Ethical Decision Making in Business, 12 Bus. & Prof. Ethics J., 87–88 (1993).

lawyer to have. Some skills are common to all areas of law practice; others, unique to the business law attorney.

A. Prospective Viewpoint

Business lawyers work as planners, viewing transactions prospectively. They take the law as a given and the basis for structuring transactions. Litigators, on the other hand, view transactions retrospectively. They take the facts as a given and attempt to portray the law, by analysis and argument, as fitting the facts in a manner favorable to the client. This prospective/retrospective dichotomy leads business lawyers and litigators to approach law quite differently. For example, whether a particular statement by a court is dictum may be important to the litigator but virtually irrelevant to the business lawyer. The litigator does not mind working in the vanguard, and sometimes that is the only place from which a case can be won. The business lawyer, on the other hand, wishes to take no avoidable chance of running afoul of the law, and so if a court has interpreted a statutory provision to say a particular act may not be done, that usually is enough to dissuade the business lawyer, whether the court's interpretation was in dicta or holding.

B. Skill as a Drafter

In much the same way as a dexterous use of the hands distinguishes the surgeon, skill as a drafter distinguishes the business lawyer. The prototypical business lawyer is a consummate drafter. Care and precision, along with elegant use of the language, are points of the business lawyer's pride. That being true, business lawyers heavily judge other business lawyers on their drafting skill.

One often hears about the predilection of surgeons to solve patients' problems by an operation. And perhaps litigators see lawsuits as the solution to clients' problems more frequently than do other lawyers. Along these same lines, business lawyers think first about drafting to solve a client's problem. If in structuring a transaction a business lawyer comes across a legal ambiguity, his or her inclination is not to do research with the hopes of resolving the ambiguity; it is rather to avoid the ambiguity by drafting around it.

C. Special Issues in Counseling Clients

The mind set of the business lawyer is to find a way to accomplish what the client basically wants. Good business lawyers not only listen to the specific questions clients ask them, but they try to discern what at base the client wants to accomplish. Business lawyers might have to say no to the specific question or the client's original proposal for accomplishing the objective, but if at all possible they will present a permissible alternative designed to accomplish the real, often unspoken, goal. A president of a client might say, for example, that the corporation wants to pay a dividend of one dollar on its common stock. Realizing that the corporation has not enough surplus

available for dividends under the governing statute, the lawyer may have to say that that cannot be done. The good lawyer would not leave the matter there, however. Understanding that what the client really wants is to take one dollar per share out of the corporation and give it to its shareholders, the good lawyer would look for a legally permissible way to do so. The point is that a creative business lawyer will try to find legally permissible ways to accomplish the client's objectives.

When considering this notion that business lawyers try to find legally permissible ways to accomplish the client's objectives, it is important to recognize the limits of this frame of mind. It is not a license to accomplish those objectives using any means possible, even if the means is entirely lawful. Ethical and moral considerations and a sense of the public interest also play a role. One of the authors of previous editions of this book, the eminent securities lawyer A. A. Sommer, then an SEC Commissioner, gave a famous and recently quoted address in the mid-1970s admonishing lawyers on the limitations of creative lawyering. He stated:

I would suggest that in securities matters (other than those where advocacy is clearly proper), the attorney will have to function in a manner more akin to that of auditor than to that of the attorney. This means several things. It means that he will have to exercise a measure of independence that is perhaps uncomfortable if he is also the close counselor of management in other matters, often including business decisions. It means he will have to be acutely cognizant of [a] responsibility to the public who engage in securities transactions that would never have come about were it not for his professional presence. It means that [the attorney] will have to adopt the healthy skepticism toward the representation of management which a good auditor must adopt. It means that he will have to do the same thing the auditor does when confronted with an intransigent client—resign.

The scope of a business lawyer's obligation is a matter of contextual imperatives. For securities lawyers, moreover, special duties apply. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires the SEC to establish minimum standards of professional conduct for securities lawyers practicing before it.⁴ The SEC's rules impose on those lawyers obligations to report violations of law of which they become aware to designated authorities within the enterprise they represent.⁵ Debate accompanying adoption of those rules also considered whether lawyers should also have a duty to withdraw publicly from representation if such violations are not satisfactorily resolved (referred to as the "noisy withdrawal" proposal). Such impositions assign the securities lawyer the role of what is sometimes called a "gatekeeper." This designates participants in transactions who serve as a guardian for the public interest when assisting clients in gaining access to the public capital markets.⁶ Not all corporate lawyers participate in such transactions, but many do.

^{4.} Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 § 304.

^{5.} SEC Rules, part 205.

^{6.} See John C. Coffee, Jr., *The Attorney as Gatekeeper: An Agenda for the SEC*, 103 Colum. L. Rev. 1293 (2003).

D. Involvement in Clients' Affairs

Business lawyers do not merely give clients advice. Usually, business lawyers are intimately involved in the accomplishment of business transactions about which they give advice, and very often these transactions are accomplished almost solely by the effect of documents drafted by the lawyer. One consequence of this involvement in clients' affairs is that if anyone raises a problem about the legality or propriety of a business transaction, it is likely that the company's lawyer will be in the middle of the controversy.

E. Main Client Contact

The business lawyer typically is a law firm's main contact with a business client, even if most of the firm's work for the client is done by other specialists. Here the business lawyer's role is reminiscent of that of the internist in medical practice, who tends to be the intake physician in a group practice. Another way of describing this role of the business lawyer is that it is the role of a traffic cop. One thing this means is that the business lawyer has to know enough about other specialties to decide (1) whether the client has a legal problem and (2) if the client does have a legal problem, what other lawyer to get involved.

F. Conservatism

Business lawyers are generally conservative in their risk-taking. In everything they do for clients they ask themselves where problems might lie and what they can do to avoid them. Business lawyers often are willing to go to or have others go to whatever trouble it takes to avoid even the extremely remote possibility of a problem.

One can question the application of the conservative approach to a specific situation, but that approach in general is exactly the correct one. The business lawyer works prospectively, but he or she continually tries to look at a transaction being planned through the eyes of a court viewing the transaction retrospectively. The skillful lawyer knows that what appears at the time of the transaction to be objective truth, if it exists at all, may not be nearly so important as how an opposing lawyer subsequently characterizes the facts. And finally, the skillful lawyer knows that it is impossible to tell when planning a transaction how a judge or jury might someday view the transaction. The lawyer's only course is to button up both the facts (by documentation) and the legalities (usually by precisely drawn contractual provisions) of a transaction so tightly that a court will have no basis for finding against the business lawyer's client.

G. Collegial Approach

Business lawyers working on a transaction typically find business lawyers working on the other side. The relationship between these lawyers almost invariably is collegial rather than adversarial. Negotiations on documents, for example, are characterized by good-natured civility. So much is this the case that to an outside observer it might often appear that the lawyers are working for the same client. This illusion may come partially from the fact that each client does want basically the same thing: the transaction done smoothly and quickly. It comes also from the fact that the two lawyers share approaches and values, and so they understand each other. The borrower's lawyer, for example, does not argue when the bank's lawyer requests a specific borrowing resolution from the borrower's board of directors.

H. Involvement of Securities Law

Business practice is intertwined with the practice of securities law to such an extent that they are virtually two parts of the same whole. Much of this intertwining arises from the fact that some federal securities law serves to fill gaps in state corporation law and is, in reality, federal corporation law. But some of the intertwining also comes from the fact that a corporation cannot avoid some involvement in pure securities law. All corporations need to sell stock, for example, and anytime the corporation—or one of its shareholders—sells stock, the sale involves securities law questions. This does not mean, of course, that all business lawyers need to be full-blown securities lawyers. What it does mean is that every business lawyer needs to be expert in some areas of securities law.

I. Special Ethical Problem

Business lawyers face a special ethical problem that arises from the fact that their business clients do not exist in a form that can be dealt with directly. Everything a company does must be done through agents. The special ethical problem arises when the interest of an agent with whom the lawyer deals differs from the company's interest. The first problem of the lawyer is to see the conflict. That is not always as easy as it might seem, partly because the lawyer often does not know enough facts to discern, for example, that a proposed action is good for the company's president but bad for the enterprise. The second problem is to handle the conflict without violating the lawyer's ethical obligations and without damaging the lawyer's relationship with people in the company. That typically can be done if the lawyer exercises enough skill.

Perhaps the clearest example of this conflict arises when the president of a corporation asks the corporation's lawyer to draft the president's employment contract. Initially, the lawyer must determine whether further action is consistent with an attorney's ethical responsibilities. If it is, the lawyer would then determine whether there is an acceptable way the lawyer might handle this situation. A good and practical way would be to have the president secure the agreement of the board of directors that the lawyer will draft the contract as he or she believes the contract likely would come out if negotiated by two good business lawyers, and further that the corporation will pay for the legal work. (Essentially this would mean that the contract would include a full array of protective provisions for each party and no overreaching provisions

favoring either.) This and other ethical issues that the business lawyer faces will be addressed in the following chapters.

J. Public Service

One of the hallmarks of the legal profession is the opportunity to serve the public good. Business lawyers are no exception. Business lawyers of all types have the skills and talent to provide public service in many ways. For example, the American Bar Association Section of Business Law has joined with the National Legal Aid and Defender Association to match business lawyers with legal service organizations and public service community programs lacking the finances to hire an attorney. Some of the projects undertaken by business lawyers working pro bono with members of these organizations include assistance in securing financing for low income housing, obtaining insurance proceeds for terminal patients, and structuring loans granted by community development corporations. Other business lawyers have helped low income families form trailer park co-operatives and have provided struggling start-up companies with business formation advice. Business lawyers have also helped emerging democracies throughout the world develop constitutions, legal systems, and bar associations.